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PER CURI AM *

Ajury convicted Steve Rodgers of being a convicted fel on
in possession of a firearm Rodgers chall enges his conviction,
asserting that the indictnment was insufficient and constructively
anended, that the district court inproperly allowed adm ssion of
certain evidence, and that the prosecutor nade inproper comments

during argunent. Finding no reversible error, we affirm

Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions
t hat have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases
on the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess
expense on the public and burdens on the legal profession.™
Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



FACTS

The Austin Police Departnent (APD) received a tip that
St eve Rodgers was a convicted felon in possession of firearns. The
APD began an investigation of Rodgers. After verifying that
Rodgers resided at 830 Sussex, Oficer Stan Farris notified Agent
Clair Rayburn of the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearns
(ATF), who verified that Rodgers was a convicted felon. The APD
and ATF obtained a search warrant for Rodgers' residence.

Oficer Farris found a firearmin the closet of one of
t he bedroons of the residence. APD Oficer Craig MIller found a
firearm in a hallway closet. APD O ficer Paul Brick found a
firearmbehind a cabinet in the living roomof the house. Rodgers
was charged by a superseding indictnent with being a convicted
felon in possession of a firearm(Count |) and possessing a firearm
whi ch had an obliterated serial nunmber (Count 11). Before trial
Rodgers and the Governnent stipulated that Rodgers had been
convicted of a felony and that two shotguns and a rifle seized at
830 Sussex Drive in Austin, Texas, had been manufactured outsi de of
Texas and had been shipped in interstate coomerce. The jury found
himguilty as to Count | and not guilty as to Count ||

During the trial, Rodgers' two parole certificates were
admtted into evidence, and testinony and other evidence was
adduced regarding his gang affiliation. Rodgers chall enges his

conviction due to the adm ssion of this evidence. He al so asserts



a deficiency in, and constructive anendnent of, the indictnent.

Finally, Rodgers asserts prosecutorial msconduct in the form of

i nproper statenents during argunent, as well as cunul ative error.
DI SCUSSI ON

The | ndi ct nent

A. Sufficiency

Rodgers first contends that the supersedi ng i ndi ct nent of
hi m was insufficient because it did not specify which weapon the
grand jury accused him of possessing. Rodgers' contention is
unavai | i ng.

W review the sufficiency of the indictnent de novo
United States v. Nevers, 7 F.3d 59, 62 (5th Cr. 1993), cert.
denied, 114 S.C. 1124, 127 L.Ed.2d 432 (1994) (citation omtted).
"An adequate indictnent 1) enunerates each prinma facie el enent of
the charged of fense, 2) notifies the defendant of the charges filed
against him and 3) provides the defendant with a doubl e jeopardy
def ense agai nst future prosecutions.” 1d. (citations omtted).

The superseding indictnent of Rodgers all eged:

On or about Septenber 16, 1993, in Travis
County, in the Western District of Texas, the
Def endant ,
STEVE RODGERS,
aka "Steve Enriquez",
aka " Shot gun",

a person who had previously been convicted of

a crinme punishable by inprisonnent for a term

exceedi ng one year, did know ngly possess a

firearmthat had been shipped and transported

ininterstate commerce and affecting commerce,

in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 922(g) and 924(a).



The rel evant statute provides that "[i]t shall be unlawful for any
person -- (1) who has been convicted in any court of a crine
puni shabl e by inprisonnent for a termexceeding one year; . . . to

possess in or affecting comerce, any firearm or
amunition[.]" 18 U.S.C. § 922(9).

Cenerally, "the l|anguage of the statute may guarantee
sufficiency if all required elenents are included in the statutory
| anguage."” United States v. Gordon, 780 F.2d 1165, 1171 (5th Cr
1986). Violation of 8§ 922(g)(1) requires that a convicted felon
knowi ngly possess a firearm and that his possession was in or
af fecti ng commerce. United States v. Dancy, 861 F.2d 77, 81-82
(5th Cr. 1988). Rodgers' indictnment sufficiently alleged the
prima facie elenments of possession of a firearm by a convicted
f el on.

Indictnents satisfy the [sufficiency]
requirenent if they describe the specific

facts and circunstances surrounding the

offense in question in such a manner as to

i nformthe defendant of the particul ar of fense

charged. This Court reviews indictnents for

practical, not technical errors, and it wll

not reverse a conviction because of an error

in the indictnment unless that error msled the

defendant to his or her prejudice.

Nevers, 7 F.3d at 63 (internal and concluding citations omtted).

The supersedi ng i ndi ct nent al | eged t hat Rodgers possessed
a weapon on or about Septenber 16, 1993, in Austin, Texas, and that
the weapon had a nexus with interstate commerce. |In their tria
stipulation, Rodgers and the Governnent described the three
firearns seized on Septenber 16 and averred that those firearns

"were all manufactured outside the State of Texas and had
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previ ously been shipped and transported in interstate comerce."”
The stipulation indicates that Rodgers could not have been
surprised if the superseding indictnent charged hi mw th possessi on
of any one or all three of the firearns.

Finally, "[i]n the unlikely event of a subsequent
i ndi ctment, defendant could surely rely upon the entire record

to avoid double jeopardy." United States v. Haas, 583 F.2d

216, 221 (5th Cr. 1978), cert. denied, 440 U S. 981, 99 S . C.
1788, 60 L.Ed.2d 240 (1979). Rodgers' indictnent therefore
satisfies the third prerequisite for sufficiency.

B. Constructive Amendnent

Rodgers next contends that the Governnent constructively
anended his indictnent by introducing evidence that he possessed
three firearns. Rodgers argues that the petit jury mght have
convi cted him of possession of a firearmthat the grand jury did

not accuse him of possessing. The district court considered but

rejected this contention at trial. Although this precise issueis
res nova in this circuit, its underlying principles are well
settl ed.

In United States v. Arlen, 947 F.2d 139, 144 (5th Cr.
1991), cert. denied, 112 S. C. 1480, 117 L.Ed.2d 623 (1992)
(internal and concluding citations omtted), we observed the
fol | ow ng:

The Fifth Anmendnent guarantees that a
crimnal defendant wll be tried only on
charges alleged in a grand jury indictnent.
The indictnment cannot be "broadened or
altered" except by the grand jury. A
constructive anmendnent occurs when the tria
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court "through its instructions and facts it

permts in evidence, allows proof of an

essential elenment of a crine on an alternative

basis permtted by the statute but not charged

in the indictnment."

"[ Constructive anendnent] occurs when the jury is permtted to
convict the defendant upon a factual basis that effectively
nodi fies an essential elenment of the offense charged.™ Uni ted
States v. Doucet, 994 F.2d 169, 172 (5th Cr. 1993) (citation
omtted). Constructive anmendnent of an indictnment requires
reversal of the conviction. Id.

Drawi ng upon the principles attendant to the question of
constructive amendnment in this Crcuit and in the Seventh Circuit
whi ch has addressed this issue, we find that the follow ng non-
exclusive factors are inportant in determning whether an
i ndi ct ment has been constructively anended:

(1) Whether the factual basis presented in the evidence
invites the jury to convict on a basis broader than that charged in
the indictnent? See Doucet, 994 F.2d at 173. Here, we inquire
whet her the crime charged intheindictnent is materially different
or substantially altered at trial, such that it is inpossible to
know whet her the grand jury indicted the defendant for the crine
actually proved. See United States v. @Qunning, 984 F.2d 1476, 1482
(7th Gr. 1993);

(2) Whether there is a material difference between what
the indictnent called on the jury to do and what the evidence,

argunent, or jury instruction calls upon the jury to do? See

Doucet, id. The inquiry here is whether the facts presented to the



jury are "distinctly different fromthe set of facts set forth in
the charging instrunent." See Gunning, id. (7th Gr. 1993)

(3) Whether such invitation wundercuts the defense
prepared in response to the indictnent? See Doucet, id.;

(4) \Whether the indictnent is specific, exact, or
limting, such that its terns make its specifications an essenti al
part of the charge? See United States v. Leichtnam 948 F.2d 370,
379 (7th Cir. 1991); United States v. Goines, 988 F.2d 750, 773-774
(7th Cr. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S. C. 241, 126 L.Ed.2d 195,
cert. denied, 114 S. C. 483, 126 L.Ed.2d 433, and cert. deni ed,
114 S. . 558, 126 L.Ed.2d 458 (1993). See and conpare, United
States v. Robison, 904 F. 2d 365, 369 (6th Cr. 1990), cert. denied,
498 U. S. 946, 111 S. Ct. 360, 112 L.Ed.2d 323 (1990) (an indictnent
specifying that a defendant carried a particular firearmis not
constructively anended by instructions that the Governnent need
prove only that the defendant carried any firearm even when the
evi dence indicates that the defendant carried a firearmdifferent
than that specified in the indictnent).

The instant indictnent is couched in general ternms which
do not nmake the description of the firearman essential part of the
indictment. The facts presented at trial were the sane as those
set forth in the charging instrunent, except for the nunber (but
not specific description) of firearnms. The nunber of firearns is
not a substantial alteration such that it is inpossible to know
whet her the grand jury would have indicted for the crine that was

proved. In and of itself, the evidence presented about the nunber



of firearns is not a material difference which required the jury to
do anything nore, less, or different than was required by the
super sedi ng i ndi ct nent .

The indictnment did not allege a particular firearm
Rodgers thus was not indicted for possessing one firearm and
convicted of possessing another, a situation this Court has
suggested m ght constitute a constructive anendnent. See United
States v. Young, 730 F.2d 221, 224 (5th Cr. 1984); but see
Robi son, 904 F.2d at 369. Rodgers did not face the possibility of
being convicted on a theory different than that alleged in the
indictnment. Proof that Rodgers possessed any of the three firearns
satisfied the literal terns of the indictnent. Moreover, Rodgers
was apprised by the indictnment of the particular theory upon which
t he Governnment proceeded, see and conpare Doucet, 994 F.2d at 172,
and has failed to show prejudice which arises solely from the
difference in the nunber of weapons found in his apartnent and the
nunber of weapons charged in the indictnent.

[ When the indictnment charges a violation of a

statute in general terns, proof of acts of the

ki nd described, although those acts are not

specifically nentioned in the indictnent, does

not constructively anend it, at | east absent a

denonstration that this was, or maght have

been, prejudicial to the defendant.
United States v. Malatesta, 583 F.2d 748, 756 (5th Cr. 1978),
nmodi fi ed on other grounds, 590 F.2d 1379, 1382 (5th Gr. 1979) (en
banc) (footnote omtted), cert. denied, 440 U S 962, 99 S C.

1508, 59 L.Ed.d2d 777, and cert. denied, 444 U S. 846, 100 S. Ct.



91, 62 L.Ed.2d 59 (1979). Accordingly, we conclude that there has

been no constructive anendnent of Rodgers' indictnent.

Adm ssi on of Evidence

Rodgers chal | enges as error the adm ssion of his parole
certificates and of evidence that he was a gang nenber. This court
reviews the evidentiary rulings of district courts in crimnal
trials under a heightened abuse of discretion standard. Uni ted
States v. Carrillo, 981 F.2d 772, 774 (5th Cr. 1993).

[Where the probative value of relevant

evidence is substantially outweighed by its

potential for unfair prejudice, it should be

excluded. An inportant consideration relating

to probative value is the prosecutorial need

for such evi dence. Anot her central

consideration in determ ning probative val ue

is how strongly the proffered evidence tends

to prove an issue of consequence in the

litigation.

United States v. Palner, 37 F.3d 1080, 1084 (5th Gr. 1994)
(citations omtted). We shall exam ne each of the allegedly
erroneous adm ssi ons.

A. Parole Certificates

Rodgers contends that the district court erred by
allowing the jury to hear that he had been convicted previously and
by all owi ng into evidence two parole certificates and a copy of one
of those certificates found in two bedroons of the house. Rodgers
argues that the certificates were irrelevant because he had
stipulated to his prior felony conviction and that the prejudicial

effect of the certificates substantially outwei ghed any probative



value.! By contrast, the Government contends that the district
court properly allowed the jury to hear that Rodgers was a
convicted fel on.

Rodgers' stipulation that he was a convicted fel on was
relevant to show his status as a convicted felon and therefore
properly was read to the jury. The prior felony conviction is an
el emrent of the instant offense; we find no error in allowing the
jury to hear that Rodgers had been convicted of a felony. See
Pal mer, 37 F.3d at 1084-1085.

In Palner, this court examned the admssibility of
parol e certificates in the face of a stipulation that the def endant
was a convicted felon, and determned that "evidence of the
predi cate of fense has no probative value apart from establishing
[the defendant's] status." Palner, 37 F.3d at 1085. The
defendant's parole certificate in that case indicated that he was
on parole for life and was subject to drug and al cohol treatnent
restrictions.

Rodgers' stipulation did not inform the jury of the
nature of his prior convictions. One of the parole certificates
indicated that his first parole term began on Novenber 16, 1989,
wth a discharge date of Novenber 1, 1991. The certificate al so
indicated that Rodgers was subject to a nunber of standard

conditions of parole, including a requirenent that he not own,

. Rodgers stipulated that "[p]rior to Septenber 16, 1993[,]
t he Defendant was duly and legally convicted in court of a felony
of fense puni shabl e by a termof inprisonnent exceedi ng one (1) year
under the laws of the State of Texas and the United States of
Anerica. "
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possess, use, or carry a firearm The certificate indicated that
Rodgers was subject to special parole conditions prohibiting him
from the use of alcoholic beverages, inhalants, or intoxicating
vapors, and requiring him to participate in a "special review
caseload." The other certificate indicated that his second parole
t ermbegan on August 28, 1991, with a di scharge date of Novenber 9,
1995. The certificate also indicated that Rodgers was subject to
several standard conditions of parole. Additionally, the
certificate indicated that Rodgers was "assigned to the highest
| evel of supervision or supervision case |oad" pending further
eval uati on.

The CGovernnent asserts that the certificates properly
were admtted because they were relevant to show that Rodgers
occupi ed the house and to show t hat Rodgers knew that he coul d not
possess firearns. The jury heard evidence that the parole
certificates were found anong ot her docunents in the house that was
Rodgers' residence. These other docunents included personal
letters and a utility bill addressed to Rodgers at that residence.
Al'so in the residence were personal photographs and a phot ographic
identification card of Rodgers. Sone of the various docunents and
phot ographs were in the sanme roons in which the firearns were
found. Even wthout the parole certificate, these docunents and
phot ogr aphs were sufficient to tie Rodgers to the residence and to
specific roons in which the firearns were found.

Al t hough Rodgers' respective two- and four-year parole

terms inply less serious offenses than the life term of parole
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i nvol ved in Pal nmer, Rodgers' parole certificates showed the jury
that he had been convicted of at least two prior felonies and was
subj ect to hei ghtened supervision on parole. None of the details
of Rodgers' previous offenses or terns of parole was relevant to
the elenents of the felon-in-possession charge, and Rodgers'
know edge that a convicted fel on cannot possess a firearmis not an
el enrent of Rodgers' offense. See Dancy, 861 F.2d at 81-82.
Rodgers' know edge of the parole condition therefore was irrel evant
to the Governnent's case.

The information on the parole certificates contained
i nformati on about "nmatters which were not probative of the el enents
of the charged offenses."” Palner, 37 F.3d at 1085. Through these

parole certificates, "the jury received information which had a

tendency to suggest a decision on an inproper basis." Palner, id.
at 1087. The probative value of the parole certificates was
mar gi nal . Their potential prejudicial effect was substanti al

Accordingly, we find that their adm ssion was an abuse of
di scretion which was clear error. See Palner, 37 F.3d at 1085. W
thus turn to exam ne whether this error was harnl ess.

"An error is harmess if the reviewing court is sure,
after viewng the entire record, that the error did not influence
the jury or had a very slight effect onits verdict.” 1d. at 1087
(citation omtted). The evidence agai nst Rodgers was very strong.
The jury heard testinony that police found a firearmin each of two
roons in which they had al so found various itens of mail addressed

to Rodgers, and found the third firearmin the hallway cl oset of
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t he house. The jury also heard that Rodgers (1) told Oficer
Farris that the guns at the house belonged to him (2) told APD
O ficer Mchael Huckaby that there were three firearns in the house
but they belonged to Rodgers' stepfather, and (3) told Agent
Rayburn that he owned one of the firearns and that his stepfather
owned the other two.

I f the adm ssion of the parole certificates focused the
jury's attention upon the prejudicial information so as to curtai
the jury's ability to believe the defendant's version of the facts,
then the adm ssion of the certificates was not harnless. See
Pal mer, 37 F.3d at 1987. However, given the strength of the
evi dence agai nst Rodgers, we are sure that the effect of this
prejudicial information upon the jury's verdict, if any, was very
slight. For this reason, we find that the error in adm ssion of

these certificates was harnl ess.

Extrinsic Act Evidence

Rodgers next contends that the district court inproperly
admtted evidence of his affiliation with the Latin Kings gang.
Rodgers argues that the gang evi dence was irrel evant extrinsic-act
evi dence and was highly prejudicial. The Governnent counters that
the evidence was relevant to Rodgers' notive for possessing the
firearnms in the house; that evidence of Rodgers' gang affiliation
corroborated the police wtnesses' testinony regarding Rodgers'
statenments to them and that the adm ssion of the evidence was at

nmost harm ess error. W find neither argunment persuasive, but we
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do agree that the error, if any, associated with this evidence is
harm ess.

The evi dence whi ch Rodgers chall enges as irrelevant and
prejudicial includes the follow ng: Rodgers told Oficer Farris,
O ficer Huckaby, and Agent Rayburn that he possessed the guns at
t he house because he needed protection due to his affiliation with
the Latin Kings gang. Rodgers also said that he kept the guns in
the house to protect hinself from other gang nenbers who disliked
him There were many drive-by shootings directed at Rodgers' house
and car. Oficer Farris had observed that Rodgers' house and car
were riddled with bullet holes. Oficer Farris identified (1)
phot ogr aphs of Rodgers and other Latino nen nmaking what Oficer
Farris identified as the Latin Kings' hand sign; (2) a photograph
of Rodgers exhibiting a Latin Kings tattoo; (3) and a phot ograph of
Rodgers' car which shows a bullet hole in the car. Oficer Farris
also identified a file folder enblazoned with two synbols of the
Latin Kings. Attached to that file folder was a letter from an
apparent Latin King who was in prison. Police found the
phot ographs and the file folder in one of the bedroons at Rodgers
resi dence. In addition to the testinony and the evidence
identified by Oficer Farris, the Governnent introduced an envel ope
enbl azoned with a sketch of a crown, but which contained no
explicit identification as a gang enbl em

Wth regard to the testinony that Rodgers had told | aw
enforcenent officials that he possessed the weapons because he

feared violence due to his gang affiliation, the potential
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prejudicial inpact of this testinony was slight because the
officers neither inplicated Rodgers in illegal gang activity nor
testified about any specific crimnal activities of the Latin
Kings. By contrast, the probative val ue of Rodgers' statenent that
he possessed t he weapons i s great regardi ng the el enent of "know ng
possessi on". Accordingly, we find no abuse of discretion in
adm ssion of this testinony.

The physical evidence of Rodgers' gang affiliation and
t he photographs of his bullet-ridden car was both probative and
cunul ative because it corroborated the officers' testinony about
his statenent that he possessed the weapons due to a fear of
vi ol ence. Therefore, the probative value of this evidence was | ess
than that of the officers' testinony. The photographs of Rodgers
and ot her apparent Latin King nenbers depict the nmen maki ng hand
signs; drinking beer; standing in a kitchen; and celebrating in
front of a Christmas tree. They do not show t he nen engaged i n any
illegal or offensive activities. The photographs show a man who
appears to be Rodgers individually displaying a Latin King tattoo
and holding a carton of beer. Gyven that the jury had heard the
testinony that Rodgers was a Latin King, the photographs of hi mand
his confederates were not inflammtory. Likew se, the photographs
of Rodgers' car show only one bullet hole and, in light of Oficer
Farris' testinony that Rodgers had said that his car had been the
target of shooting, these photographs were not inflamatory. The
probative value of this evidence is mnimal. It does not nake nore

or less likely any elenent of the charged offense. Neverthel ess,
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we have viewed this evidence and find that its potential
prejudicial inpact is also mninmal and, therefore, did not
substantially outweigh its probative value so as to render its
adm ssion an abuse of discretion.

The Latin Kings' enbl ens depi cted on the fol der (pen-and-
i nk sketches of automatic weapons and a sword dripping blood) are
simlarly tangential to any material fact at 1issue herein.
Al t hough the slight probative value of these sketches gives us
pause, we do not find that their prejudicial nature is so
substantial that the adm ssion of this evidence was an abuse of
di scretion.

Finally, the nost troubling evidence of Rodgers' gang
affiliation is the letter froman apparent gang nenber in prison.
The letter indicates, inter alia, that its witer was disturbed by
news that an individual named "Sly" was associating wth an
i ndi vi dual nanmed "Creature,"” who "was t he one who stabbed that wet -
back in the head[.]" Al though a close reading of the letter
indicates that the witer was upset about Sly's association with
"Creature", the letter could easily be read to suggest that Rodgers
was associated with crimnals, that sonme of the Latin Kings were
crimnals, or that Rodgers was associated with an individual who
had stabbed sonebody. The potential prejudicial inpact of the
letter was substantial. See United States v. Parada- Tal amantes, 32
F.3d 168, 170 (5th Cr. 1994) (evidence of guilt by association
generally inadm ssible to prove quilt). In light of the other

evi dence t hat Rodgers' feared violence due to his gang affiliation,
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the probative value of the letter was negligible and it was an
abuse of discretion to allow adm ssion of this letter. As is
di scussed above, however, the evidence of Rodgers' guilt was very
strong. The letter could not have had nore than a very slight
effect on the jury's verdict. See Palner, 37 F.3d at 1087. For
this reason, we find that this error was harnl ess.

In summary, given the adm ssibility of Rodgers' statenent
to the officers, the question is not whether the jury was infected
w th know edge of his gang nenbership. At issue here is whether
this evidence was inflammatory or indicative of anything other than
t hat whi ch Rodgers acknow edged, i.e., that he was a nenber of a
gang. Although much of this evidence could just as easily have
been omtted, its inclusion was nerely cunmul ati ve and does not rise

to the |l evel of reversible error.

Prosecutorial M sconduct

Rodgers <contends that the prosecutor nade several
inproper references to his gang affiliation during closing
argunents. The question in reviewng a claim of prosecutorial
m sconduct is to deci de whether the m sconduct casts serious doubt
upon the correctness of the jury's verdict. United States v.
Carter, 953 F.2d 1449, 1457 (5th G r. 1992), cert. denied sub nom
Hanmack v. United States, 112 S. C. 2980, 119 L.Ed.2d 598 (1992)
(citations omtted). In making that determ nation, the Court isto
consi der: (1) the magnitude of the prejudicial effect of the

statenents; (2) the efficacy of any cautionary instructions; and
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(3) the strength of the evidence of the appellants' guilt. Carter,
id.

A prosecutor may tell jurors what inferences he w shes
themto draw fromthe evidence. United States v. Laury, 985 F.2d
1293, 1307 (5th Gr. 1993). However, a prosecutor's comrents nay
constitute m sconduct when they refer to facts outside the record.
United States v. Davis, 792 F.2d 1299, 1307 (5th Gr. 1986), cert
denied, 479 U S. 964, 107 S.Ct. 464, 93 L.Ed.2d 409 (1986). It is
al so possible for a prosecutor's remarks, taken as a whole, to
vi ol ate a defendant's substantial rights even if any single coment
does not require reversal. United States v. Iredia, 866 F.2d 114,
118 (5th Cr. 1989), cert. denied, 492 U S 921, 109 S. C. 3250,
106 L.Ed.2d 596 (1989). "[T]he test for determ ning whether a
convi ction shoul d be overturned i s whether the prosecutor's remarks
were both i nappropriate and harnful." United States v. Rocha, 916
F.2d 219, 234 (5th Gr. 1990), cert. denied, 500 U S 934, 111
S.C. 2957, 114 L.Ed.2d 462 (1991).

Rodgers alludes to several references to his gang
menbership during closing argunents. Rodgers objected to all but
one of the follow ng coments:

The prosecutor paraphrased Rodgers' conversation wth
Oficer Farris as follows:

| possessed the weapons. | got problens with

gangs. |'ma gang nenber. |'ve been invol ved

in shootings. What's with the holes in your

house? They are bullet holes. VWhat's with

the holes in your car? They are holes from

shotgun shells, holes fromfire fights in the
nei ghbor hood.
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M. Villarreal asked what Kkind of

nei ghborhood is this. It's a fairly nice

nei ghbor hood except for that one house where

t hi s Defendant deci des he has to have weapons

so he can get in these little gang fights and

fire fights.
Rodgers objected that this remark referred to infornmation outside
the record, and noved for a mstrial. Hi s objection was overrul ed
and his nmotion for mistrial denied.?

The prosecutor proceeded to discuss the photographs and
ot her gang-rel ated evidence found at Rodgers' house as foll ows:

[ The police] find the photographs as Oficer

Farris explained that had the Defendant in

them and there are nunerous phot ographs where

they are giving the old Kings sign, a gang

si gn. The guy who took photographs, or

sonebody took photographs that were in the

Def endant' s house of his car that had holes in

it. He is proud of them He |likes his gang

menbership, and this --
At this point, the district court sustai ned Rodgers' objection to
the prosecutor's statenent and instructed the jury to disregard it.

Evidently undeterred, the prosecutor conmmented, "[t]his
isn't the Boy Scouts. The Boy Scouts have a little . . . [t]hey
don't have weapons in it." The district court overrul ed Rodgers
objection to this coment about the Boy Scouts.

The prosecutor al so remarked, "[n]ow, why woul d sonebody

do that or possess one with an altered nunber? How about a felon

2 The jury had heard evi dence that Rodgers' nei ghborhood
was qui et and m ddl e-class, with well-kept hones and well-tri mred
yards and that Rodgers' house was out of place in the nei ghborhood
because it was run down and was riddled with bullet holes. Thus,
contrary to Rodgers' objection, the prosecutor's remarks did not
refer to information outside of the record.
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that ain[']t supposed to have it? How about sonebody who i s goi ng
to be engaged in gang shootings?" Shortly thereafter, the
prosecutor remarked t hat Rodgers "had t hese weapons so he coul d pop
them of f and use them That's what he admtted. That nmakes him
dangerous." The district court overrul ed Rodgers' objections.

During rebuttal, the prosecutor remarked, "Don't bite off
onthis, Wll, Steve did this and Steve did that,' using his first
name. This guy is a gang nenber that uses weapons and possesses
t hem because he's a gang nenber and uses weapons." Rodgers did not
object to this remark.

When the district court overrul ed Rodgers' objections, it
remnded the jurors that they are the exclusive judges of the
evi dence and facts in the case and that both counsel are accorded
sone leeway in stating their interpretation of the evidence. Wen
the district court sustained Rodgers' objection, it instructed the
jury to disregard the prosecutor's statenent.

We find that he prosecutor's statenents were i nproper and
i nappropriate. As discussed above, the jury had heard testinony
that Rodgers said he needed guns to protect hinmself from gang
violence. The references to "fire fights" and Rodgers' desire to
be involved in "gang fights" and shootings m scharacterized the
testi nony which had indicated that Rodgers possessed the firearns
for defensive reasons and that Rodgers had been the target of
numer ous shooti ngs. However, because of the strength of the
evi dence of Rodgers' guilt and the district court's adnonitions to

the jury, we find that these inproper statenents cast no serious
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doubt upon the correctness of the verdict, whether viewed
individually or cunulatively. Accordingly, as to those remarks
which were allowed® either over Rodgers' objection or due to

Rodgers' failure to object, we find that the error was harn ess.

Cunul ative Error

Rodgers finally contends that the errors of the tria
court and m sconduct of the Governnent cunulatively violated his
right to a fair trial. This contention is unavailing.

Trial errors that are harnl ess when consi dered al one nmay
mandat e reversal when considered cunulatively, if the cunulative
effect is to deny the defendant's right to a fair trial. United
States v. Labarbera, 581 F.2d 107, 110 (5th Cr. 1978). However,
"[cl]umul ative reversible error, although not unknown to [this
court's] jurisprudence, is ararity." lredia, 866 F.2d at 118.

The Governnent's evidence and the prosecutor's argunents
focused much nore attention on Rodgers' gang background than was
necessary to corroborate the trial testinony. Additionally, the
parol e certificates should not have been admtted. Neverthel ess,
t he Governnent presented a very strong case that Rodgers know ngly
possessed the firearns found in his residence. Read in its
entirety, the record does not indicate that Rodgers' trial was

fundanental |y unfair.

3 As to the coments to which Rodgers' objection was
sustained, we find that the adnonition to the jury was sufficient.
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CONCLUSI ON
For the foregoing reasons, we find no reversible error

and Rodgers' conviction is AFFI RVED
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